Agenda
Meeting:

North York Moors National Park Authority

Venue:

The National Park Office, The Old Vicarage, Bondgate, Helmsley

Date:

Monday 27 September 2021, 9.30am

Business
1. Apologies for absence
2. Public scrutiny minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021

(page 2)

3. Public Question Time (an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions.)
4. Members are reminded that it is their responsibility to declare the nature of any
personal, prejudicial and/or disclosable interests relating to any agenda item
immediately prior to its consideration and are encouraged to complete a written
declaration using the form provided.
5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure – The Chair to inform Members of the Public of
the emergency evacuation procedure.
6. Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of each of the items
of business shown in Column 1 of the following table on the grounds that each
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraph of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 specified in Column 2:Item No on the Agenda
14
15

Paragraph No
3, 5 & 10
5

7.

Grant Thornton ISA260 Audit report/Letter of Representation

(page 7)

8.

Presentation of Statement of Final Accounts

(page 51)

9.

North Yorkshire Rural Commission – Debbie Trebilco

(page 55)

Reports for information
10. CEO update

(page 59)

11. On the record

(page 63)

12. Feedback from lead members on forums

(page 71)

13. Reports from Members on outside bodies

(page 99)

Private Business - Minutes/Reports Circulated To Members Only
14. Private scrutiny minutes from 29 July
15. Property review
16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair, should, by reason of special
circumstances, be considered as a matter of urgency.

Tom Hind
Chief Executive (National Park Officer)
Press Contact:

Nina Beadle, Media and Communications Officer, 01439 772700

Note:
•

The Authority allows the recording and reporting of public meetings but asks that
any party wishing to do so informs the Authority in advance of the meeting.

•

Recording and reporting that disrupts the meeting is not allowed. Persons expressly
refusing consent, children and vulnerable adults cannot be filmed or photographed.

•

The existing rules relating to confidential and exempt information, defamation, Data
Protection and Public Order apply. The Authority accepts no liability whatsoever for
the recording and reporting carried out by other parties.

•

Members are reminded to turn all electronic equipment to silent mode, including
mobile phones, laptop computers and tablets. Please note that only information that
is available to Members during the Committee meeting should be accessed from a
computer in the interests of sound decision making.

•

Tea and coffee will be available a quarter of an hour before the meeting.

•

Lunch will be available at approximately 12.30 pm. Members taking lunch will have
the appropriate amount deducted from any subsistence claim they may make.

•

Judith Seaton should be notified of any apologies.

•

Please ensure when parking in the car park that you have not caused an obstruction
which could prevent emergency vehicles accessing the building.

•

This agenda is available on the website www.northyorkmoors.org.uk

•

This agenda is available in large print on request.

North York Moors National Park Authority
Scrutiny Meeting
Item 2, Public Minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021
Present:
Jim Bailey, Malcolm Bowes, Alison Fisher, David Hugill, David Jeffels, Heather
Moorhouse, Caroline Patmore, Clive Pearson, Andrew Scott, Colin Williamson, Andy
Breckon (Independent Member)
Apologies:
Peter Berry, Ena Dent, Janet Frank, Patrick James, Bob Marley, Shaun Moody, Abida
Nayyar, Sarah Oswald, Subash Sharma,
Officers in Attendance:
Tom Hind (Chief Executive), Briony Fox (Director of Conservation & Polyhalite Projects),
Ian Nicholls (Head of Corporate Services), Chris France (Director of Planning), Michael
Graham (Director of Park Services), Jo Swiers (Performance Officer), Vanessa Burgess
(Committees & Customer Services Officer),

Copies of All Documents Considered Are in the Minute Book
01/21

Minutes
That the public minutes of the NPA/AGM meeting held on, 21 June 2021 having
been printed and circulated, be taken as read and be confirmed and signed by
the Chair as a correct record.

02/21

Members Interests
Members were reminded of their responsibility to declare any personal and
prejudicial interests relating to any agenda item prior to its consideration.

03/21 Exclusion of the Public
Resolved: That the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration
of Item 9. On the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3, 5 & 10 of Part 1 Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972.
04/21 Impressions – NYMNPA presentation by Tom Hind
Tom spoke of the strengths and weakness of the Authority, plus the
importance going forward to embed scrutiny into the day to day formal
business of the authority, FRASC and the Forums, rather than just considering
scrutiny at a once a year meeting.
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Members commented on:
•
•
•

•
•
•

The need to include residents and visitors as part of NPA’s stakeholder
relationships
Possible opportunities for the future
Authority undertaking a wide range of work, whilst resources are spread very
thinly. Current low profile for NP, the need for more prominent signage when
entering the NP, and better promotion of the area
Officers need to assist Members to develop a greater understanding of NP
issues.
KPIs need to be relevant and easy to follow
Values, how people feel when they enter the NP can be as important as what
they see in the experience

Tom commented that whilst it was difficult to “stop doing” work, there was a
need to prioritise and focus. Tom agreed with members’ comments regarding
signage saying there were plans to try and address the issues, especially at the
northern end of the park. Visitors needed a better “sense of arrival”, especially
from the North.
05/21 Headline Indicators/Action Plan progress presentations by Jo Swiers and
Directors
Jo Swiers, Performance officer, introduced the item by revisiting the headline
indicators then Directors and the Head of Corporate Services each gave
Members a brief departmental presentation.
Members commented as follows regarding Conservation:
• Why there was less land in Environmental Schemes and the need for simpler
processes around stewardship agreements,
• NP has an influencing role, but needs support from other partners to deliver
• Nature Recovery in NPs needs to be well managed in order to best deliver
park purposes.
Briony Fox and Tom commented that the Authority had sent a report to Defra
with the outcomes of a research project exploring barriers to uptake of CS
schemes. We have also been involved in Tests & Trials to influence the new ELM
scheme. The Authority has also launched the new Farming in Protected
Landscapes Programme. Debate continues regarding the delivery of ELMS and
the role that National Park Authorities will play.
Members commented as follows regarding Park Services:
•

•

Health & Wellbeing – in order to deliver green social prescribing, greater
engagement was needed with GPs, Clinical Commissioning Groups and
mental health professionals.
Cleveland Way – should be stile free in October. A great opportunity for PR
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•
•

Need for clearer distinction between outcomes and activities, those we host,
those we facilitate, with more emphasis on facilitating.
Local criticism of visitors, may in turn affect local views of our NP

Michael Graham and Tom commented on visitor issues in the North and West of
the NP. The Authority was working with SBC on a funded tourism programme. A
“watch out” for the Authority was the need to strike a balance between
supporting communities and encouraging recreation/visitors.
Action: PR opportunity re: Cleveland Way last stile
Members commented as follows regarding Planning:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Climate change, the need to integrate renewable energy planning in our NP
and local plan policies.
Future-proofing the historic environment in relation to tourism/culture
Revisit planning committee cycle and delegation post covid
Local plan needs time to “bed in”, Member interpretation of our planning
policies
Need to watch retrospective planning: it is a growing concern in terms of
applications coming to the Authority
Some complex issues in Planning, Member refresher training is needed to
assist their understanding of policies

Action: Officers to invite suitable external speaker – net zero carbon/renewable
energy
Action: Officers to arrange Members refresher training on planning policies
Members commented as follows regarding Corporate Services:
•

Thanks to all Corporate Service team for keeping the Authority/Members
supported during difficult Covid situation. A tremendous pace of change
since March 2020 (IT, working from home, virtual meetings, H&S)

David Jeffels left the meeting at 11.50am
Tom spoke about the Authority’s strategic priority and emerging business plan.
This identified 3 overarching themes: the need to proactively position the brand
of the National Park, the need to focus on doing few things well and the
importance of partnership.
A brief discussion followed on Local Government reform in light of the recent
news regarding the proposal for a single unitary authority covering the whole of
North Yorkshire.
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Finally Andy Breckon, Independent Member, spoke briefly on the issue of
scrutiny and how, going forward it should be embedded in the Authority’s
committees and formal business rather than a separate meeting. The Authority
needs a clear view on scrutiny, with effective target setting (KPIs), recognising
that soft targets can be hard to hit.

....................................................................................................................................................... (Chair)
27 September 2021
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Public Summary of Items considered "in private" at the
Scrutiny meeting on 29 July 2021
Private Minutes
Members agreed that the private minutes of the NPA/AGM held on 21 June
2021 having been printed and circulated, be taken as read and be confirmed and
signed by the Chair as a correct record.
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North York Moors National Park Authority
Item 3, Public Question Time
When?
Public Question Time will be at the beginning of each meeting, immediately after the
Minutes of any previous meeting have been agreed, and will be limited to a maximum of
15 minutes of questions and answers in total.
What?
•
•
•
•

Only questions will be allowed and these must relate to the business of the Authority
Any questioner will be limited to two minutes maximum speaking time
Supplementary questions will only be allowed for purposes of clarifying an earlier
answer
If answers cannot be provided on the day a reply in writing will be offered

How?
Any questions must be delivered in writing to the Head of Corporate Services at least
two clear working days before the meeting. The Chair will then call questioners at the
meeting in the order questions were received.
Answers to questions will normally be given by the Chair.
Exclusions?
No question relating to an individual recipient of services will be allowed, as appropriate
alternative channels exist for such inquiries.
The opportunity to ask questions under this scheme does not apply to staff or their
representatives, since other mechanisms are available.
No questions can be accepted which relate to matters which would normally be dealt
with in private session because they relate to exempt information, for example:•
•
•
•

Legal actions
Financial and business affairs of other organisations
Individual members of staff
Trade Union negotiations

No questions can be accepted where there is a statutory procedure in place for public
consultation, for example:•
•
•

Development control matters
Traffic regulation orders
Public rights of way orders, etc

Notice of questions should be sent to :
Head of Corporate Services, National Park Office, Old Vicarage, Bondgate, Helmsley,
YO62 5BP. Tel: 01439 772700,
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assessed


Green

Net pension liability – £7.51m


Green

•

•
•
Assumption

Actuary
Value

PwC
range

Assessment

Discount rate

2.10%

2.10%



Pension increase rate

2.70%

2.60% 2.70%



Salary growth

3.95%

3.60% 4.20%



Life expectancy – Males
currently aged 45 / 65

23.6 years
21.9 years

22.5 – 24.7
20.8 – 23.0



Life expectancy – Females
currently aged 45 / 65

25.8 years
24.0 years

24.0 – 27.2
23.5 – 26.0
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Transparency report 2020
(grantthornton.co.uk)
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✓

✓
•
•

•

✓
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✓



✓

✓
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✓

32

33

We anticipate we will provide the Authority with an unmodified ‘clean’ accounts opinion, with the inclusion of an ‘emphasis of matter’ regarding the valuation of property,
plant and equipment.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Independent auditor's report to the members of North
York Moors National Park Authority

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Chief Financial
Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of North York Moors National Park Authority
(the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21.

In our evaluation of the Chief Financial Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with
the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority
accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Authority’s financial statements
shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks
associated with the continuation of services provided by the Authority. In doing so we
had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements
and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the
application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the
reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the Authority and the Authority’s
disclosures over the going concern period.

In our opinion, the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March
2021 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of
practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the
Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Chief Financial
Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.
The responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer with respect to going concern are
described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Chief Finance Officer and Those
Charged with Governance for the financial statements’ section of this report.
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Emphasis of Matter – effects of Covid-19 on the valuation of land and buildings

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice

We draw attention to the Statement of Accounting Policies Note 21 of the financial
statements, which describes the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on the valuation of
the Authority’s land and buildings as at 31 March 2021. As disclosed in the Statement
of Accounting Policies Note 21 to the financial statements, the potential impact of the
Coronavirus pandemic on property values has led to a material valuation uncertainty
on property valuation being disclosed in the Authority’s property valuer’s report. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial
statements and our knowledge of the Authority, the other information published
together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements.

Other information

•

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
•
we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of
the audit; or
•
we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is
contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or;
•
we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
•
we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts and the
Annual Governance Statement, other than the financial statements, our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required
to report that fact.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Chief Financial Officer and Those Charged
with Governance for the financial statements
As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, the
Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration
of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer. The Chief
Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which
includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the Chief Financial Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of
Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020
on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are
required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with
‘delivering good governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published
by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which
we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily
addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Financial Officer is responsible for
assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the
Authority will no longer be provided.

•

The Finance, Risk, Audit and Standards Committee (FRAS) is Those Charged with
Governance. Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the
Authority’s financial reporting process.

We enquired of senior officers and the Finance, Risk, Audit and Standards
Committee, concerning the Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:
−
−
−

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

•

•

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.

the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;
the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and
the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or
non-compliance with laws and regulations.
We enquired of management, internal audit, and the Finance, Risk, Audit and
Standards Committee, whether they were aware of any instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any knowledge of
actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority’s financial statements to material
misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives
and opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the
evaluation of the risk of the risk of management override of controls and
fraudulent revenue recognition. We determined that the principal risks were in
relation to:
−
−

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

•

Journals and transactions outside the course of business.
management estimates in particular those relating to land and buildings
valuations and the valuation of the net pension fund liability
Our audit procedures involved:

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to
detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the
inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements
in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly
planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).

−

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud is detailed below:

−

•

−
−

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are
applicable to the Authority and determined that the most significant ,which are
directly relevant to specific assertions in the financial statements, are those
related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as
interpreted and adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, The Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 Local
Government Act 2003 and the Local Government Act 1972.

−
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evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has
in place to prevent and detect fraud;
journal entry testing, with a focus on unusual and high risk journals
made during the year and accounts production stage; and
considering the reasonableness of estimates and judgements made by
management.
challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its
significant accounting estimates in respect of land and buildings and
defined benefit pensions liability valuations;
assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement
item.

•

•

•

•

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that
the financial statements were free from fraud or error. However, detecting
irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting
those that result from error, as those irregularities that result from fraud may
involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional

Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources

misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we would become aware of it.

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we
have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, including the potential for fraud in revenue and
expenditure recognition, and the significant accounting estimates related to land
and buildings valuations and defined benefit pensions liability valuations.

Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will
be reported in our commentary on the Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual
Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses in these arrangements, these will be
reported by exception in a further auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this work does
not have a material effect on our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021.

Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and
capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement
team's:
−

•

understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a
similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and
participation
−
knowledge of the local government sector
−
understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the
Authority including:
− the provisions of the applicable legislation
− guidance issued by CIPFA, LASAAC and SOLACE
− the applicable statutory provisions.
In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an
understanding of:
−

the Authority’s operations, including the nature of its income and
expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to
understand the classes of transactions, account balances, expected
financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in
risks of material misstatement.

−

the Authority's control environment, including the policies and
procedures implemented by the Authority to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the financial reporting framework.

Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper
stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness
of these arrangements.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider,
nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating
effectively.
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. This
guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’.
When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to
structure their commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:
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•

Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to
ensure it can continue to deliver its services;

Signature:

•

Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and
properly manages its risks; and

Gareth Mills, Key Audit Partner

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and
delivers its services.

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Leeds

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for
each of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support
our risk assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking
our work, we consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant
weaknesses in arrangements.

Date:

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in
certification of completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for North York
Moors National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit
Practice until we have completed our work on the Authority’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and issued our
Auditor’s Annual Report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance
with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, and as set out in paragraph
43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and
the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.
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[LETTER TO BE WRITTEN ON CLIENT HEADED PAPER]

ii.

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the
Authority and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in
the financial statements.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
No 1 Whitehall Riverside
Leeds LS1 4BN

iii.

The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of any
regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial
statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. We are satisfied that the material
judgements used in the preparation of the financial statements are soundly
based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial
statements. We understand our responsibilities includes identifying and
considering alternative, methods, assumptions or source data that would be
equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why these alternatives
were rejected in favour of the estimate used. We are satisfied that the methods,
the data and the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting
estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with the Code and
adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

vi.

We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the
valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits
disclosures are consistent with our knowledge. We confirm that all settlements
and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for. We also
confirm that all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and
properly accounted for.

vii.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements:

27 September 2021

Dear Sirs
North York Moors National Park Authority
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial
statements of North York Moors National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March
2021 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the Authority financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 and applicable law.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as
we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
Financial Statements
i.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Authority’s
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 ("the Code"); in particular the
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith.

a.
b.
c.
39

there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
none of the assets of the Authority has been assigned, pledged or
mortgaged
there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or
non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

viii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standards and the Code.

ix.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The
Authority’s financial statements have been amended for these misstatements,
misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material
misstatements, including omissions.

xi.

We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your
Audit Findings Report. We have not adjusted the financial statements for these
misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the results of
the Authority and its financial position at the year. The financial statements are
free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xii.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards.

xiii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiv.

We have updated our going concern assessment and cashflow forecasts in light
of the Covid-19 pandemic. We continue to believe that the Authority’s financial
statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not identified
any material uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds that:
a.

b.

the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its
financial statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a)
above; and
c.
the Authority’s system of internal control has not identified any events or
conditions relevant to going concern.
We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Authority's ability to
continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.
Information Provided
xv.

We have provided you with:
a.

xvi.

access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the Authority’s financial statements such as records,
documentation and other matters;
b.
additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose
of your audit; and
c.
access to persons within the Authority via remote arrangements, in
compliance with the nationally specified social distancing requirements
established by the government in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which
management is aware.

xvii.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected
in the financial statements.

xviii.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xix.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud
that we are aware of and that affects the Authority and involves:
a.
b.
c.

the nature of the Authority means that, notwithstanding any intention to
liquidate the Authority or cease its operations in their current form, it will
continue to be appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting because, in such an event, services it performs can be
expected to continue to be delivered by related public authorities and
preparing the financial statements on a going concern basis will still
provide a faithful representation of the items in the financial statements

xx.

xxi.
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management;
employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.
We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered
when preparing financial statements.

xxii.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority's related parties and all
the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiii.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
xxiv.

We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the
Authority's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we
are not aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report
xxv.

The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of
the Authority's financial and operating performance over the period covered by
the Authority’s financial statements.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted at the National Park Authority
meeting on 27 September 2021.
Yours faithfully

Name……………………………
Position………………………….
Date…………………………….

Name……………………………

Position………………………….
Date…………………………….

Signed on behalf of North York Moors National Park Authority
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Item 7
Your ref:
Our Ref:
Date:

27 September 2021

Grant Thornton UK LLP
No 1 Whitehall Riverside
Leeds LS1 4BN
Dear Sirs
North York Moors National Park Authority - Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial
statements of North York Moors National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March
2021 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the Authority financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 and applicable law.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as
we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
Financial statements
i.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Authority’s
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 ("the Code"); in particular the financial
statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith.

ii.

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the
Authority and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in
the financial statements.

iii.

The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.
There has been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory
authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the
event of non-compliance.
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iv.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. We are satisfied that the
material judgements used in the preparation of the financial statements are
soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the
financial statements. We understand our responsibilities includes identifying
and considering alternative, methods, assumptions or source data that would
be equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why these
alternatives were rejected in favour of the estimate used. We are satisfied
that the methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by us in
making accounting estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to
achieve recognition, measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in
accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial
statements.

vi.

We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying
the valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee
Benefits disclosures are consistent with our knowledge. We confirm that all
settlements and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted
for. We also confirm that all significant post-employment benefits have been
identified and properly accounted for.

vii.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a) there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b) none of the assets of the Authority has been assigned, pledged or
mortgaged
c) there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or nonrecurring items requiring separate disclosure.

viii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code.

ix.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment
or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The
Authority’s financial statements have been amended for these
misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of
material misstatements, including omissions.

46

xi.

We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your
Audit Findings Report. We have not adjusted the financial statements for
these misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the
results of the Authority and its financial position at the year. The financial
statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xii.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standards.

xiii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiv.

We have updated our going concern assessment and cashflow forecasts in
light of the Covid-19 pandemic. We continue to believe that the Authority’s
financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have
not identified any material uncertainties related to going concern on the
grounds that:
a) the nature of the Authority means that, notwithstanding any intention to
liquidate the Authority or cease its operations in their current form, it will
continue to be appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
because, in such an event, services it performs can be expected to
continue to be delivered by related public authorities and preparing the
financial statements on a going concern basis will still provide a faithful
representation of the items in the financial statements
b) the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its
financial statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a)
above; and
c) the Authority’s system of internal control has not identified any events or
conditions relevant to going concern.

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Authority's ability to continue as a
going concern need to be made in the financial statements
Information provided
xv.

We have provided you with:
a) access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the Authority’s financial statements such as records,
documentation and other matters;
b) additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of
your audit; and
c) access to persons within the Authority via remote arrangements, in
compliance with the nationally specified recommended social distancing
requirements established by the government in response to the Covid-19
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pandemic. from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.
xvi.

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which
management is aware.

xvii.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are
reflected in the financial statements.

xviii.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xix.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected
fraud that we are aware of and that affects the Authority and involves:
a) management;
b) employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c) others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

xx.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

xxi.

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should
be considered when preparing financial statements.

xxii.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority's related parties and all
the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiii.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual governance statement
xxiv.

We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects
the Authority's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm
that we are not aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the
AGS.
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Narrative report
xxv.

The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding
of the Authority's financial and operating performance over the period
covered by the Authority’s financial statements.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted at the National Park Authority
meeting on 27 September 2021.
Yours faithfully

Signature
Name

Jim Bailey………………………

Position

Chair……………………………...

Date

27/09/2021…………………..

Signature
Name

Tom Hind………………………..

Position

Chief Executive Officer…...

Date

27/09/2021……………………..

Signed on behalf of North York Moors National Park Authority
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North York Moors National Park Authority
27 September 2021
Item 8, Statement of Financial Accounts (SoFA)
1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To present to Members for approval a proposed final SoFA for the year 2020/21.

2.

Background

2.1

As a result of the Environment Act 1995 the North York Moors National Park
Authority is recognised as a separate corporate body which is required to
produce its own SoFA.

2.2

The draft SoFA including the Annual Governance Statement was signed by the
Section 151 Officer on 25 June 2021 and was published on the Authority website
on 28 June 2021. The proposed final SoFA which also includes the Annual
Governance Statement is attached in Appendix A. The format and content of this
document complies with the CIPFA IFRS Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting (The Code). The Code sets out the proper accounting practice
required for the SoFA, within the statutory framework of the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015.

3.

Audit of the accounts

3.1

The audit has been conducted by Grant Thornton in two parts. The first is the
financial audit of the Statement of Financial Accounts, which is to be completed
by the end of September 2021 and is recommended for approval and signing at
this committee. The second is the value for money audit which has a different
deadline completion date of end of December 2021. The conclusions of the value
for money audit will be brought to December NPA along with the final audit
opinion.

3.2

There have been no significant changes to accounting policies in 2020/21.

3.3

The outturn figures in the written report to the Finance, Risk, Audit and
Standards Committee on 24 May 2021 have not been adjusted or amended.

3.4

The Auditors ISA260 report is also published on this agenda at item 7.

3.5

At the point of publication of this agenda, the letter of assurance for the North
Yorkshire Pension Fund from Deloitte is still awaited. There are two separate
recommendations in section 8, depending on whether this has been made
available by the date of the meeting.
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4.

Conclusion

4.1

The audit of the Statement of Final Accounts has been completed subject to the
letter of assurance from Deloitte. The deadline for sign off of this part of the
audit is 30 September 2021.

4.2

The value for money part of the audit will be reported back to NPA in December
in time for the 31 December deadline for completion of this.

4.3

It has been a very clean financial audit with just a small number of non-material
issues raised.

4.4

Two different recommendations are put forward depending on whether the
letter of assurance is received before the 27 September.

5.

Financial and staffing implications

5.1

None.

6.

Contribution to National Park Management Plan

6.1

It is a requirement for the Authority to produce a Statement of Accounts and
complete and external audit each year. A positive audit conclusion is one of the
key financial targets and provides evidence of good financial controls and
financial sustainability at the Authority.

7.

Legal and sustainability implications

7.1

There are no legal issues as a result of this report.

8.

Recommendation

8.1

If pension letter of assurance is received before the meeting:-That Members approve the Statement of Final Accounts for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 and for documents to be signed as follows :- Statement of Financial Accounts – Chair and Chief Executive
- Annual Governance Statement – Chair and Chief Executive
- Letter of Representation – Chair and Chief Executive

8.2

If pension letter of assurance is not received before the meeting:- That Members approve the Statement of Final Accounts subject to the letter of
assurance indicating no material changes to the Statement of Financial
Accounts. If there are no material changes, signing off the accounts is delegated
to Chair of NPA and Chief Executive in consultation with S151 Officer. If the letter
of assurance does indicate material change to the accounts, the Statement of
Financial Accounts will be brought back to a future meeting.
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Contact Officer:
Pete Williams
Chief Finance Officer to the North York Moors National Park Authority
01439 772700
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Appendix A
The Statement of Final Accounts has been produced as a separate item due to its size.
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North York Moors National Park Authority
27 September 2021
Item 9, North Yorkshire Rural Commission - rural North
Yorkshire, the way forward
1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To provide Members with an opportunity to debate the key findings of the Rural
Commission’s Report on challenges and issues facing North Yorkshire’s rural
communities particularly those which are most relevant to the National Park
Authority’s planning role and the emerging Management Plan vision.

2.

The North Yorkshire Rural Commission report

2.1

The North Yorkshire Rural Commission was convened in 2019 and is the first of
its kind, setting out a vision for the county in its report, Rural North Yorkshire:
The Way Forward, which was published and launched in July at the Great
Yorkshire Show. It is supported by but not part of the County Council and has an
independent membership covering key business, academic and community
interests. The report recognises that North Yorkshire is one of the most
beautiful and also the most sparsely populated counties in England and its size
and deep rurality combine to create a set of social and economic challenges that
are all very apparent to those working and living in the area. It covers a number of
key findings and recommendations across a range of policy themes including the
rural economy, digital connectivity, affordable housing, farming and land
management and rural transport as well as cross cutting themes such as
leadership and climate change.

2.2

Not surprisingly the issues and recommendations mirror very closely the main
objectives and outcomes we are discussing in the emerging Management Plan
under the Living and Working Landscapes theme and the timing of both is
opportune in terms of working jointly to achieve shared visions for our rural
communities.

2.3

This covering report highlights the key areas where such joint working would be
most effective and refers to those recommendations of the Rural Commission
which are directed at the National Park Authorities. For a better appreciation of
the document Members can read it in full by following this link:
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/sites/default/files/fileroot/About%20the%20co
uncil/Rural%20Commission%20Report.pdf

2.4

Both NPAs have responded informally to the report and we have accepted an
invitation from the Chair of the Rural Commission, the Dean of Ripon to attend a
meeting of the Ripon Cathedral Rural Forum on 10 September, which will start
the process of engagement of groups and individuals to take forward actions and
recommendations of the report.
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3

Key issues from the report

3.1

Rural Economy: To ensure that North Yorkshire has a diverse economy leading in
green employment, including food, farming, forestry and renewable energy and
to maximise investment through Devolution funding.

3.2

This closely complements our emerging vision for a thriving and diverse
economy, where businesses benefit from a high quality environment and many of
which will be based on National Park special qualities and the brand of the North
York Moors. The report references planning regulations and a concern to protect
the environment as barriers to social and economic progression. We have argued
that in our assessment the evidence does not bear this out and that the very
beauty of North Yorkshire is an economic asset not an obstacle.

3.3

Energy Transmission: The report states that up to 47% of North Yorkshire is
designated as either National Park or AONB and much of the rural housing stock
is made of solid brick or stone walls; there is no grid and weak electrical
infrastructure. It contains a specific recommendation that:
“The National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty should execute an
enabling strategy to permit the essential [energy] infrastructure and upgrades to
buildings to be undertaken, to ensure a ‘fit-for-purpose’ future within these
protected landscapes.” Officers have requested clarification on this as single
skin traditional buildings are not confined to landscape designations and home
insulation and essential energy infrastructure is mostly delivered outside the
planning system.

3.4

Digital Connectivity: The report states that full connectivity must be considered
as a human right and a specific recommendation for the NPAs and AONBs is
included: That the NPs and AONBs must establish a ‘Digital Inclusion Group’ to
advise on digital infrastructure that will be acceptable in these protected areas.
Whilst we fully agree with the need for 100% digital connectivity as soon as
possible, officers consider that we are already facilitating this through the
relevant Management Plan Outcome and joint work with NYCC. We also note the
superfast broadband roll out and more recently directly with DCMS to enable the
Government funded Project Gigabit project to deliver the objective of 85%
connection by 2025 and 100% by 2030 (national targets). Broadband
infrastructure is essentially outside the planning system but we are working to
provide guidance on good practice and the most environmentally beneficial way
to deliver it.

3.5

Farming and Land Management: The Commission draws out some of the key
challenges of farming in North Yorkshire, contrasting the diversity of farm types
with low productivity growth in some sectors. It argues that DEFRA should adopt
a more integrated policy approach to farming, land management and the
environment, whilst recognising that restructuring as well as a stronger business
mindset amongst farmers is essential to overcome the loss of the Basic Payment
Scheme over the next 6 years. Our Tests and Trials work has highlighted the
fragility of farm incomes and dependency on financial support. We are aware of
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the need to provide support and advice to those working on the land to ensure
this significant transition is managed successfully. We want to harness farmers
as partners in aspiration to deliver long-term benefits to the landscape and
biodiversity of the National Park.
3.6

Rural Housing: The report’s key headline on this issue is that there is an acute
shortage of housing within the National Parks and that each parish in the county
should build five houses over the next ten years. Whilst we agree that a step
change is required in the delivery of affordable housing, and that our vision in the
emerging management plan will set us and other key ‘players’ a significant
challenge to meet greater numbers, we disagree that part of the solution would
require further relaxation of planning regulations as planning policies are not
responsible for holding up affordable housing delivery in the National Park.

3.7

We have also suggested that there should be further and fundamental action to
address the growing proportion of holiday and second homes in the National
Park rather than simply seeking to discourage them through levying charges,
which has not been effective in the past. The five new houses in each parish,
although providing a good headline, is not realistic in terms of sustainability,
population distribution, size of settlements and economies of scale and doesn’t
take account of the shared facilities and the wider role of larger settlements and
cluster parishes working together. There is a specific reference to our local plan
policies in respect of barn conversions which recommends that the whole of the
County should follow best practice examples set by the NPA in allowing farm
buildings to be converted to local occupancy or principal residence dwellings.

3.8

Finally, climate change is set out as a cross cutting theme (as is leadership,
devolution and the demographic challenge) which has shaped the report’s
conclusions on the other issues. It refers to the regional and national
commitment to achieve net carbon zero.

4.

Conclusion

4.1

The timing of this report in relation to our own work on the Management Plan
and also the move towards a new single partner local authority covering most of
the National Park is opportune in seeking to deliver a shared vision for the future
of the North York Moors which will help deliver the wider vision set out in the
report for the County.

5.

Financial and staffing implications

5.1

The report does not create additional financial or staffing implications which are
not already part of our core planning/social economic duty function.

6.

Contribution to National Park Management Plan

6.1

The report and actions to implement its recommendations will in some key areas
feed directly in to our ongoing management plan work with complementary
actions to help deliver shared outcomes and vision.
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7.

Legal and sustainability implications

7.1

No specific implications

8.

Recommendation

8.1

That Members note the key issues arising from the Rural Commissions Report
and headlined in this covering report and support officer involvement in a
working group to help implement actions that help deliver the outcomes and
emerging vision set out in our new Management Plan.

Contact Officer:
Chris France
Director of Planning
01439 772700
Background documents to this report
1.

Rural North Yorkshire: The way forward. The NY Rural Commission. July 2021

2.

Officer letter in response to the “way forward” – CM France – August 2021

58

North York Moors National Park Authority
27 September 2021
Item 10, CEO update
1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To provide members with an update on the CEO’s activities since the last NPA
and to identify key and emerging issues for Members to be aware of.

2.

National policy overview

2.1

It is likely to be a busy forthcoming period in terms of national policy
developments that will impact on National Parks.

2.2

Defra Secretary of State George Eustice issued a written ministerial statement
providing an interim response to the Landscapes (Glover) Review. This
confirmed an intention to come forward with a further consultation and
proposals later this year which we expect in the course of the next month. The
chair and I continue to input to discussions through National Parks England on
the key areas that a consultation is expected to explore notably the creation of a
new National Landscapes Service and changes to NPA governance.
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/202106-24/hcws119

2.3

The same announcement also confirmed that Government intends through
Natural England to start the process of designating new Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty including the Yorkshire Wolds.

2.4

Along with a consultation on the Glover proposals it is widely expected that
Defra will come forward with a policy paper on nature (probably in the form of a
Green Paper) this autumn. Amongst others, this is likely to set out how National
Parks & AONBs should play a key role in the development of the Nature
Recovery Network and to achieve Government’s 30 by 30 commitment to
protect 30% of land in the UK for nature by 2030. This may challenge National
Parks to deepen their level of ambition in terms of nature recovery and
conservation and will form important context for our emerging Management
Plan.

2.5

Finally, we expect announcements on the outcome of the next comprehensive
spending review on 27 October. The outcome of this will likely confirm National
Parks’ core financial settlement for the next three years.
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3.

Management Plan

3.1

Following the evening seminar with Members in July on the special qualities of
the National Park we have held further discussions with stakeholders involved in
the three thematic working groups. These have sought feedback, input and
commitment to the draft outcomes, objectives and special qualities. So far the
quality of feedback from stakeholders has been excellent and has demonstrated
a high degree of commitment, notably from statutory stakeholders such as the
Forestry Commission/ England and Natural England to working in partnership to
achieve the emerging outcomes. The Management Plan Working Group, led by
Patrick James, continues to oversee the process and support officers in their
work.

3.2

As things stand we remain on track to go to consultation on the draft Plan in
November. The next Members’ evening seminar to consider the draft plan and
approach to consultation is currently scheduled for 12 October.

4.

Local government reform

4.1

Following the confirmation by the Secretary of State of Government’s preferred
proposals for unitary local government in North Yorkshire, discussions among
local government representatives in the county have focussed on transitional
and change management arrangements. A joint board of political
representatives drawn from the 8 local councils has been created to oversee the
process, supported by a senior officer team from the different authorities. With
elections to the new Authority effectively scheduled for May 2022 we are also
mindful of discussions on new warding arrangements that are expected to
impact on local government appointments to National Park Authorities & other
bodies. Arrangements for the new Authority are expected to be set out in a
Structural Change Order.

5.

Regional Climate Commission

5.1

Together with the Yorkshire Dales and representatives of the regional AONBs
we have pressed for representation on the Regional Climate Commission that
has been brought together to support, guide and track the delivery of an
ambitious climate action plan across the Yorkshire and Humber Region. We have
been collectively invited to sit on the Commission’s Land, Water, Nature & Food
panel which will drive the work in this area. Iain Mann, Nidderdale AONB Manager
is representing the protected landscapes at officer level. There is an opportunity
for a Member drawn from across the 4 protected landscapes to also sit on this
panel.

6.

Bus service improvement plan

6.1

The NPA was recently invited to respond to a consultation from NYCC on the
development of a bus service improvement plan for North Yorkshire. There are
several areas of the Government’s Bus Back Better Strategy that relate to
National Parks. In our response we have noted that:
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•

•
•

•
•

Better bus access to the National Park will bring significant economic
benefits and reduce carbon emissions. It also aligns to proposals in the
Glover review for more sustainable transport to and in National Parks.
The alignment between the plan and our emerging Management Plan
objective around regenerative tourism.
The popularity and potential of the National Park as a cycling destination,
which would be helped through a greater capacity to carry bikes on public
transport.
The potential to market bus routes in the National Park as scenic journeys
The need for associated infrastructure to be provided such as bus laybys for
more than one bus, and parking regulations to save the space that buses
need to move through places prone to traffic congestion.

7.

Bilsdale transmitter

7.1

I am pleased to report that at the time of writing (8 September) we have been
able to confirm that Permitted Development Rights apply to Arqiva to install a
temporary mast to restore TV and radio signal to much of the area affected by
the outage caused by the fire at the permanent mast. I’m really grateful to the
planning and conservation teams who worked with considerable pace and
diligence to undertake environmental impact and habitat regulations
assessments with Natural England and Arqiva’s planning consultants to achieve
this whilst ensuring that the EU protected site impacted by the installation is
conserved.

8.

Recommendation

8.1

That Members note the contents of this report.

Contact Officer:
Tom Hind
Chief Executive
01439 772700
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North York Moors National Park Authority
27 September 2021
Item 11, On the Record
1.

Training for 2021

1.1

A reminder that the rescheduled Member training will be ethical standards and
governance with Lisa Dixon and Planning with Richard Smith to be held after
Planning Committee on Thursday, 14 October 2021.

2.

List of meeting and training dates 2022

2.1

At appendix 1, please find a list of proposed meeting/training dates for Jan-Dec
2022.

3.

Member development discussions

3.1

Members are reminded that Member Development Discussion meetings need to
take place before the end of this year, again, more information on this can be
found on appendix 2.

4.

Parish Forum dates for October 2021

4.1

Details for the October Parish Forums are as follows:
Northern: Tues, 5 Oct at 7pm – Westerdale Village Hall
Southern: Thurs, 7 Oct at 7pm – Hutton le Hole Village Hall
Western: Tues, 19 Oct at 7.15pm – Chop Gate Village Hall
Coastal: Thurs, 24 Oct at 7pm – Loftus Town Hall
If you are unsure which Parish Forum you have been allocated to, please see
appendix 3.

5.

Members’ expenses 2020/21
For Members’ information, appendix 4 shows a breakdown of expenses received
between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021.

Contact Officer:
Judith Seaton
Executive Support Team Leader
01439 772586
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Appendix 1 - Committee/meeting/training dates 2022 (*denotes NPA committees
starting at 9.30am)
Meeting
January
Planning site visit
Members regular monthly
update
Planning committee
Management Plan WG
CLM
Members evening seminar
Planning site visit
February
FRAS committee
Members regular monthly
update
Man Plan WG
Planning Committee
March
Members regular monthly
update
Members training day
NPA *
Planning site visit
April
Northern parish forum
Planning committee
Members regular monthly
update
Southern parish forum
ARB forum
Western parish forum
Coastal parish forum
Members training day
May
Planning site visit
Members regular monthly
update
CLM
Members evening seminar
Planning committee
FRAS committee

Date of meeting
Wednesday 5 January
Tuesday 11 January

Chairs briefing
-

Thursday 13 January
Tuesday 18 January
Monday 24 January
Thursday 27 January
Friday 28 January
Monday 7 February
Tuesday 8 February

Monday 10 January @ 10am
Friday 14 January @ 9am
Tuesday 1 February @ 10am

Tuesday 22 February
Thursday 24 February
Tuesday 8 March

Friday 18 February @ 9am
Monday 21 February @ 10am
-

Wednesday 9 March
Monday 21 March
Friday 26 March
Tuesday 5 April
Thursday 7 April
Tuesday 12 April

Friday 18 March
-

Thursday 14 April
Monday 25 April
Tuesday 19 April
Thursday 21 April
Tuesday 26 April
Monday 9 May
Tuesday 10 May

-

Wednesday 11 May
Wednesday 18 May
Thursday 19 May
Monday 23 May

June
Members regular monthly
update
Local Access Forum
NPA/AGM *
Joint parish forum
July

Tuesday 7 June

Monday 16 May @ 10am
Wednesday 18 May @
3.30pm
-

Wednesday 8 June
Monday 20 June
Monday 11 July
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Monday 4 April @ 10am
-

Friday 17 June @ 1pm
-

Meeting
Members training day
Planning site visit
ARB/CLM joint forum
Members regular monthly
update
Planning committee
August
Members regular monthly
update
Members evening seminar
Planning site visit
FRAS committee
September
Planning committee
ARB
Members regular monthly
update
RAF Fylingdales
NPA committee*
October
CLM
Northern parish forum
Planning site visit
Members regular monthly
update
Planning committee
Members training day
Southern parish forum
Western parish forum
November
ARB
Coastal parish forum
Members regular monthly
update
FRAS committee
Planning site visit
Members evening seminar
December
Local Access Forum
Planning committee

Date of meeting
Thursday 7 July
Friday 1 July
Monday 11 July
Tuesday 12 July

Chairs briefing

Thursday 14 July
Tuesday 9 August

Monday 11 July @ 10am
-

Thursday 18 August
Friday 19 August
Monday 29 August
Thursday 1 September
Thursday 8 September
Tuesday 13 September

Tuesday 23 August @ 10am
Friday 27 August @ 10am
-

Tuesday 20 September
Monday 26 September
Monday 3 October
Tuesday 4 October
Friday 7 October
Tuesday 11 October

Friday 23 September @ 1pm
-

Thursday 13 October
Wednesday 19 October
Thursday 20 October
Tuesday 25 October
Thursday 3 November
Monday, 7 November
Tuesday 8 November

Monday 10 October @10am

Monday 14 November
Friday 18 November
Tuesday, 22 November
Tuesday 6 December
Thursday 1 December

NPA committee*
Members regular monthly
update

Monday 12 December
Tuesday 13 December

Tuesday 8 November
Monday 28 November @
10am
Friday 9 December @ 1pm
-

65

-

Member training/events programme for 2022
Date
27 January 2022

Lead officer
BF/RT/DA

9 March 2022

Training/event
Members evening seminar
– FiPL
Members training day –

26 April 2022

Members training day –

-

18 May 2022

Members evening seminar
Members training day –

-

BF

19 October 2022

Members evening seminar
– River Esk
*Members national
induction course
Members training day –

1 November 2022

Members evening seminar

-

7 July 2022
18 August 2022
Tbc

-

Tbc if SLA continues
-

12 December 2022

Members Christmas lunch Authority Chair/JMS
* Any new Members are strongly encourage to attend one of these events
Members are welcome to join in with any Volunteer super task days throughout the
year. Information on these will be e-mailed to Members as and when they are organised,
covid permitting.
Suggested topics for further CLMF and general Member Training are:
Mixture of site visits and some shorter office based or virtual meeting topic discussions
with a much closer focus on scrutiny of Authority delivery across both Forums (including
s106 funded activity).
•

Agricultural buildings and air quality (jointly with Planning)

•

Bransdale Conservation Management Plan

66

Appendix 2 -Member Development Discussions 2021 – Guidance Note
At the FRASC meeting in September 2015 it was agreed to carry out Member
Development discussions once every two years. This note provides information about
the process and advice about preparing for your discussion.
The meeting involves a discussion between the discussion leader and one of his/her
allocated Members. The discussion should follow a specific list of topics but, of course,
you can raise any other matters during the meeting. The leads in this process are the
Authority Chair and Deputy Chair and the Chairs of FRAS and the Planning Committees.
Members have been allocated as follows:
Discussion Leads
Jim Bailey
Malcolm Bowes
Caroline Patmore
David Hugill

Allocated Members
Janet Frank, David Jeffels, Heather Moorhouse, Bob Marley,
Ena Dent, Sarah Oswald, Caroline Patmore, Subash Sharma
Alison Fisher, Shaun Moody, Clive Pearson, Colin Williamson
Vacant NYCC post, Patrick James, Peter Berry , Andrew Scott

The purpose of the discussion is to give Members the opportunity to comment about
your role and performance as a member, the work of the Authority, our future plans and
how we can support you. These discussions are confidential.
Meetings should include discussions on the following:
•

What has been your main contribution to the Authority during the past year?

•

What has gone well during the past year?

•

What could have been done better?

•

What training would you like to be involved in?

•

What would you like to achieve next year?

Members are encouraged to prepare a few notes on these topics before their 1:1. At the
end of the discussion the Discussion lead and the member he/she is meeting should
agree:
•

The main conclusions from the discussion.

•

Any conclusions or suggestions to feed back to other Members.

•

The main actions arising from the discussion and the person responsible for taking
forward these actions.

When all meetings have been completed, the discussion leads will meet to discuss the
main issues which have arisen and report back to Members.
Discussion leads to arrange meetings with each of their allocated members before
Christmas 2021, with feedback to Members taking place in the New Year and any
concerns/issues raised with Senior Officers thereafter.
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Appendix 3
Parish Forum Membership
Coastal Area Parish Forum

Northern Area Parish Forum

Mr J Bailey
Mr M Bowes
Mr D Jeffels
Mr B Marley
Mr C Pearson
Mr S Sharma

Mr J Bailey
Mr P Berry
Mr B Bowes
Mr S Moody
Mrs H Moorhouse
Mrs A Nayyar
Mr C Williamson

Southern Area Parish Forum

Western Area Parish Forum

Mr J Bailey
Mr M Bowes
Mrs E Dent
Ms A Fisher
Mrs J Frank
Mr P James
Ms S Oswald
Mr A Scott

Mr J Bailey
Mr M Bowes
Mr D Hugill
Mrs H Moorhouse
Mrs C Patmore
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Appendix 4, Members expenses 1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021
Members

Total special
responsibility
allowance (£)

David Jeffels

Total basic
allowance
(£)
2384.26

Jim Bailey

2384.26

4768.57

Malcolm Bowes

2384.26

1788.25

Janet Frank

2384.26

David Hugill

2384.26

Alison Fisher

2384.26

Andrew Scott

2384.26

Jeremey Walker

2384.26

Sarah Oswald

2384.26

Caroline Patmore

2384.26

Heather Moorhouse

2384.26

Ena Dent

2384.26

Clive Pearson

2384.26

Patrick James

2384.26

Subash Sharma

2384.26

Peter Berry

2384.26

Members
travel to
HQ (miles)

Members
travel to
HQ (£)

Members
travel
(miles)
325

Members
travel (£)

263.2

118.44

146.25

786.82
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27.90
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Members
subsistence
(£)
8.24

Members travel
public
transport (£)

Members

Shaun Moody

Total basic
allowance
(£)
2384.26

Colin Williamson

2384.26

Bob Marley

2384.26

Andrew Breckon

0.00

Total special
responsibility
allowance (£)

Members
travel to
HQ (miles)

Members
travel to
HQ (£)

Members
travel
(miles)

Members
travel (£)

1216

547.20

75

32.85

1278

575.10

663.20

297.54

Members
subsistence
(£)

(independent member)

Totals

45300.94

7343.64
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8.24

Members travel
public
transport (£)

Item 12, Feedback from Lead Members
Please find at appendix 1, minutes plus further information from the Joint ARB/CLM
Forum which took place on 12 July 2021.
Appendix 2 - verbal Management Plan update by Patrick James.
Appendix 3 – Trust update by Tom Hind
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Appendix 1

North York Moors National Park Authority
Joint ARB/CLM Forum (by Video Conference) – Monday 25 January 2021
Agricultural Transition and Environmental Land Management (ELM) development
Present:
Sarah Baker Sarah.Baker@ahdb.org.uk – Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB)
Jim Bailey – North York Moors National Park Authority
Malcolm Bowes – North York Moors National Park Authority
Alison Fisher – North York Moors National Park Authority - CHAIR
Paul Fellows – Head of Strategic Policy, North York Moors National Park Authority
Briony Fox b.fox@northyorkmoors.org.uk – Director of Conservation, North York Moors National Park
Authority
Chris France – Director of Planning, North York Moors National Park Authority
Janet Frank – North York Moors National Park Authority
Tom Hind t.hind@northyorkmoors.org.uk – Chief Executive, North York Moors National Park Authority
David Hugill – North York Moors National Park Authority
Patrick James – North York Moors National Park Authority
Bob Marley – North York Moors National Park Authority
Sarah Oswald – North York Moors National Park Authority
Caroline Patmore – North York Moors National Park Authority
Clive Pearson – North York Moors National Park Authority
Andrew Scott – North York Moors National Park Authority
Subash Sharma – North York Moors National Park Authority
Clair Shields – Planning Officer (Policy and Building Conservation), North York Moros National Park Authority
Rebecca Thompson r.thompson@northyorkmoors.org.uk - Future Farming Policy Officer, North York Moors
National Park Authority
Colin Williamson – North York Moors National Park Authority

The Chair explained the purpose of the meeting was to get up to speed with agri-environment
strategic changes which will impact on NPA purposes and duties, and to consider what position the
NPA wants to take within the new North York Moors National Park Management Plan.
Introduction to Agricultural Transition, general context of the agricultural world, links with
ELM policies etc. (For presentation – see Appendix One)
Sarah Baker provided a national perspective of changes to agriculture. The recent Agricultural
Transition Plan (2021 – 2024) sets out a national policy framework following Brexit. Direct payments
to farmers will be phased out over the next seven years. Alternative financial support will be offered
through Environmental Land Management (ELM) based on the principle of public money for public
goods; farmers will be paid for providing goods that aren’t rewarded by the market. Other elements
include enhancing animal welfare, research and innovation and providing farm investment funding
to encourage efficiency and productivity. Sarah emphasised that productivity or rather profitability is
an important key to sustainability.
ELM will be an agri-environment scheme with three components available to all land managers
undertaking active management, so not just farmers. The three components being developed are:
• Sustainable Farming Incentive;
• Local Nature Recovery – collaborative approach with local focus to provide best suited
outcomes;
• Landscape Recovery – large scale projects which will require coordination as well as
collaboration.
The last two in particular could provide significant opportunities for National Parks.
Sarah emphasised the importance of the direct payments (Basic Payment Scheme – BPS) for many
UK farms. By the end of 2024 most farms will have lost c. half of their direct payments. For types of
farms found in the North York Moors National Park e.g. LFA grazing, lowland grazing, mixed there
has been a heavy dependence on them. Viability studies of UK farms suggest that a percentage of
farms will have insufficient funds to invest or modernise, and may not be able to survive the
upcoming changes. As ELM is not due to start until 2024, over the next few years there will be an
increasing funding gap. Existing agri-environment schemes and involvement with ELM pilots might
provide additional income over this time. By being involved with Test and Trials and pilot ELM
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projects the NPA can help shape the future. Defra will shortly be asking for Expressions of Interest
in hosting ELM pilots and money will be available to achieve pilot aims.
AHDB modelling with the Lake District NPA looked at a number of scenarios which indicated that if
a farm is already getting agri-environment support it should be well placed to benefit in the future
from ELM. However it is important to remember that public goods through ELM will come with costs
for the participants, and ELM won’t be as generous as previous agri-environment support. Sarah
suggested maintenance of current level of income is probably the best outcome for farmers to aim
for. She mentioned the AHDB’s Business Impact Calculator (https://bic.ahdb.org.uk/) which can help
farmers calculate their direct payment changes over the next few years and so help with business
planning. By using such a tool farmers can minimise risk by checking their own situation before
setting off down a particular path.
Sarah’s presentation led to the following discussion.
How will small scale farmers be able to manage up front costs when joining ELM? Can ELM
maintain income for smaller farms? Concern that smaller farms will find it difficult to deliver enough
public goods.
The Sustainable Farming Initiative component is likely to require time and effort but not monetary
input. Each farmer will need to pick out options that suit their business. It may be that farmers who
reduce inputs to fit in to ELM will end up reducing current costs. The other two components of ELM
are more likely to require additional funding and input however how these will work to achieve
environmental outcomes is still being developed through the Test & Trials and upcoming Pilots.
Sarah thinks farms in National Parks are well placed to provide public goods including access,
education and well being which has been much in demand in recent times. She also noted that
small farms already have a number of income streams including non farming ones.
Constantly improving productivity figures whatever the cost isn’t necessarily sustainable.
Improvements in productivity can mean doing more with less; by improving efficiency outputs and
profits can increase.
Another element to be developed nationally is how ELM payments will work e.g. after nature
recovery is achieved. It is difficult to pay on outcomes because actions with out lay costs can’t be
guaranteed to achieve sought outcomes e.g. increase in number of wild birds. In most cases public
goods only start being delivered once actions are carried out and once nature has recovered, so
farmers could continue to be rewarded as long as this is maintained. But then there are questions
over how sustainable this ongoing use of public funds can be. Test and Trials projects are being
used to look at different payment systems which is why it’s so important for the NPA to be involved.
The idea of providing public goods e.g. conservation woodland management, wall restoration, was
an element of the NPA’s previous Farm Scheme. Rebecca hopes that previous Farm Scheme
farmers will help encourage other farmers into ELM. Sarah noted that farmer to farmer learning can
be effective and help share ideas and practice. AHDB have their own demonstration farm in the
north of the National Park; this is a useful resource to show what works in practice with local
conditions. Rebecca is working on the last element of the North York Moors NPA’s Test and Trails
which is a report on delivery mechanism ideas for Defra. She will include the payment system used
in the Farm Scheme which provided funding partly in advance to help with cash flow. Sarah noted
that Defra are wanting viable businesses that can provide public goods and won’t want to loose
potential providers because of cash flow concerns. Length of ELM agreements will depend on the
objectives. Hopefully payments can be made monthly rather than once a year which should help
with cash flow.
Is there a chance to promote new routes of entry into land management?
The Agricultural Transition Plan includes the idea of exit payments for older farmers; suggested as
seven years of Basic Payment Scheme payments as a lump sum. This could mean land becomes
available for new entrants with new ideas; there will also be grant to support new entrants and
investment. This may lead to farm holdings being restructured; there was a concern that
consolidation of farm holdings would change the character of this National Park, at the same time it
was suggested that some consolidation is not necessarily a bad thing. Barriers to new entrants will
still exist and are difficult to overcome without family involvement or finance. There was concern that
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there may be loopholes in such a scheme which could be exploited. The details of how the exit
scheme will work are still being developed by Defra and will be consulted on. Sarah thought that
there might be limited uptake of exit payments in the National Park where she doesn’t expect many
families are looking to come out of farming. There are many motivations and influences that mean it
isn’t just finance that guide decisions. It was suggested that the next generation of committed young
farmers in the North York Moors is coming through already.
Can there be a balance between environmental benefits and food production?
There is a bigger picture that needs to be considered including the future of food production in the
country. Importation of food adds to the impacts of Climate Change. The overall aim of policy needs
to be sustainability. Food needs to be affordable but the price may need to be more realistic e.g.
including the actual production costs and taking into account wider impacts. Direct payments have
enabled cheaper food, so without them will prices rise and if so what will the impacts be? It was
suggested that there would seem to be no point for farmers to farm without producing products
which farmers value.
Concerns were also raised that ELM comes with risk; there have been a number of changes to the
main support schemes over the last few years, if farmers put all their efforts and assets into public
goods and then ELM is replaced that could be a problem. Reducing the number of income streams
i.e. the loss of BPS, could also add to risk for farmers. There have been occasions when Rural
Payment Agency rules clashed with conservation attempts and led to penalties for farmers under
the CAP system. The new system should mean this doesn’t happen and that farmers receive
reward for providing environmental benefits.
What will the effects be on the National Park?
Small farms in the Esk Valley currently have direct payments between £5000 and £15000. These
small amounts are still vital for livelihoods and therefore any potential reduction is a concern. A
number of farmers in the North York Moors are tenants who may not be able to afford to go
elsewhere even with an exit payment. Estates may look to take more land back in hand to gain ELM
payments. Sarah noted that it wasn’t yet clear what percentage of future funding will be available
through ELM. Hopefully North York Moors farmers will be better placed to benefit from ELM than
they’ve been to benefit from direct area payments in the past. She recognised that there could be
implications for rental agreements in the future.
The landscape of the National Park depends on land use. It looks like there may be less money in
the future for agriculture and this will have implications such as maybe bigger estates, changes in
the value of land, more land disconnected from farmsteads. The demand for land isn’t necessarily
related to income potential so probably means the loss of direct area payments will not have a major
effect on the value of land. A lot of different people involved in land management for different
motives could be a good thing, but it will make the idea of restructuring a viable farming industry
problematic. The NPA can have a significant role and has to decide what it wants that to be, it
needs to recognise opportunities and grasp them.
Agricultural Transition and ELM development in the North York Moors National Park
Rebecca Thompson outlined recent work undertaken by the NPA including delivering a Test &
Trials project. This included a questionnaire to as many farmers/land managers in the North York
Moors as possible to get an understanding of their willingness and ability to deliver public goods.
This information was backed up with Focus Groups and a final report delivered to Defra which
suggests farmers and land managers want to engage with public goods and work with the NPA to
do so. This was followed by the development of an economic modelling tool focused on the North
York Moors and looking at the impact of attaching different values to the delivery of different public
goods and the impact this has on different farm types and scales. The conclusion is that to keep
current levels of farm income ELM payments would need to be between 2x and 10x of current
Countryside Stewardship rates. The last element of the Test & Trails is a report on delivery
mechanisms for the delivery of public goods. It had been intended to hold farmer workshops but as
this is not possible the report will focus on examples of previous NPA delivery and lessons learnt.
As direct payments are reduced and until ELM is rolled out in 2024 the main support on offer is the
existing national Countryside Stewardship Scheme (CS). Rebecca noted that the NPA worked
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recently with a PhD student to report on the barriers to accessing CS which had been shared with
Members and with Defra. There have been changes to the scheme making it easier to access and
at least CS can provide useful additional income stream. National Park Authorities are currently
working with the National Association of AONBs, with Defra funding until the end of March, to
engage farmers with CS. Within this National Park a local consultant will be providing a number of
farm surveys to suggest opportunities to use in a CS application. The NPA will also be promoting a
national webinar for farmers to access.
The Agricultural Transition Plan includes an initiative called Farming in Protected Landscapes
Scheme. This will be a three year scheme from April 2021 for National Parks and AONBs. Details
are still being developed by Defra including how the budget will be divided and whether there will be
funding for delivery support. National Parks England have presented a paper to Defra setting out
suggestions of how the scheme could work based around the previous Sustainable Development
Fund. Rebecca is pleased that Defra have recognised that protected landscapes are special, and
thinks the initiative offers a chance to demonstrate that NPAs can make a difference and provide
good value for money. This NPA should identify what is special and needs support over the next few
years. There was a concern expressed that being involved in direct delivery could bring with it
liability issues.
It was noted that there are currently two Facilitation Fund farmers group in action in this National
Park, with a facilitator funded through Countryside Stewardship. These groups provide a useful
opportunity for working together with farmers locally and might be useful for Defra to use as well.
Management Plan development discussion • How can we best support farmers and land managers to maximise their choices for the
environment whilst minimising risks and maximising opportunities to achieving both NP purposes
(and socio-economic duty)?
• How do we interlink Nature Recovery with ELMS / positioning for pilots and how do engage
stakeholders in this?
• What further information and evidence do we need to inform our thinking?
• How far we want to go as an Authority on the continuum of advisor through to delivery body for
ELM in the future?
Patrick James updated on progress with the development of the new Management Plan. The first
meeting of the Management Plan Working Group has been held; the group will meet once a month.
An ambitious timetable has been agreed which will see the Management Plan finalised within 12
months. There will be three thematic working groups involving partner organisations; the themes are
Leading Nature Recovery, Landscapes for All, Living and Working Landscapes. Consultation plans
are in place. The aim is to produce a concise relatively short Management Plan this time.
A Member asked how farmers could identify which public goods they might deliver, especially for
more eclectic opportunities like well being and aesthetics; she is keen to understand how the NPA
can help them do this. Another Member added that it is difficult for farmers to think about public
goods without knowing what Defra are identifying as detrimental and beneficial actions.
Common land and open grazing is a characteristic of this National Park but graziers may miss out
on being rewarded through ELM because it will be the landowner who owns the rights to provide the
public goods such as clean water. There may be conflicts of interest between farming tenants and
landowners who might have different objectives for the same land. It was suggested that the
environment of the National Park is made up of various fragile threads and any changes will have
affects, it’s up to the NPA to steer a path through. Land management skills and knowledge need to
be maintained or else it won’t be possible to provide public goods. Changes in agriculture are bound
to have a socio-economic impact, but there is a cultural impact to consider as well.
Agriculture is intrinsic to the National Park. ELM will have major strategic significance for the North
York Moors and the NPA. The NPA needs to establish what public goods it wants to maintain and
enhance the National Park’s special qualities, as well as what local farmers value most and aspire
to. The majority of the National Park is privately owned and so a collaborative approach with land
managers and land owners as well as partner organisations will be important. Tom Hind suggested
trusted advice is pivotal and hopefully the NPA is well positioned to provide this. A Member
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emphasised the importance of the consultation stages in the Management Plan process to ensure
the NPA can understand what people hold in common and establish direction from that.
Change is underway and will come with challenges, but also opportunities. Opportunities need to be
identified and shared. The NPA is working with Natural England to identify its Nature Recovery
Network priorities i.e. key habitats and species, and planning to ensure resilient connected and
functioning landscapes. This work, as well as work to engage with people and enhance wellbeing,
both within and beyond the National Park, can all link up with agricultural transition. The NPA needs
to work out the mechanisms to bring this together on a landscape scale; ELM could be a major tool
for delivery by farmers and land managers.
If Members have questions or ideas to discuss please contact Tom, Briony or Rebecca.
The Chair had begun by reflecting that it would be difficult to prepare a new Management Plan at
such a time of change in agricultural, however by the end of the meeting she suggested it was a
good time to think about the future. She thanked everyone for attending, especially Sarah and
Rebecca for their helpful expositions.
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Jan 2021

Defra’s Agriculture Transition Plan
What does it mean for farmers?
Sarah Baker
Senior Strategic Insight Manager
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What's in the agriculture transition plan?
1. Phasing out of direct payments
2. Introduction of new potential income sources:
• Environmental Land Management (ELM)
• Funding for enhanced animal health and welfare
• Farming Investment Fund
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Public money for public goods?
The bill gives Government the power to provide
financial assistance for specific purposes. The
overriding principle is that public money will
only be awarded for public goods.

Other areas of funding

Examples of public goods

• Investing in research & development

• managing land or water in a way that protects
or improves the environment;

• Providing support for farmers during the
transition”.

• Improving the productivity of, an agricultural,
horticultural or forestry activity.

• supporting public access to and enjoyment of
the countryside, farmland or woodland and
better understanding of the environment;
• mitigating or adapting to climate change;
• preventing, reducing or protecting from
environmental hazards;
• protecting or improving the health or welfare
of livestock
• protecting or improving the health of plants.
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Environmental Land Management schemes
in England
System will be made up of three component parts:

Sustainable
Farming Incentive

Local Nature
Recovery

Farmers will be paid to
employ or continue
practises which are
beneficial to the
environment or improve
sustainability.

Activities that are focused
on locally targeted
environmental outcomes.
Collaboration between
farmers and other land
managers will be
incentivised.
e.g. Activities that support
catchment protection in
NVZs

e.g. Planting cover crops or
wildflower meadows
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Landscape
Recovery
Land-use-change that
contributes to national
commitments, particularly
Net Zero. Many actions
could focus on carbon
storage, with other benefits
too.
e.g. Afforestation, peatland
restoration, wetland
creation

Importance of direct payments
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What scale of ‘structural change’?
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How are payments going to change?
2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Gradual reduction of direct payments

No direct
payments

New Environmental Land Management
Contracts

Existing agi-environmental schemes
Pilots for Environmental Land Management

• 2021 direct payment reductions:

2028 onwards

First £30,000
£30,000 - £50,000
£50,000 - £150,000
£150, 000 and above
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5%
10%
20%
25%

Implications for national parks
• Lake district analysis
• Provided a structured framework to
think about outcomes
• Analysis showed significant
opportunity for National Parks due to
scope for Pillar 2 type income
• Important to remember that ELM
payment will incur costs to recipients
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Calculator at bic.ahdb.org.uk
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What next?

Continued focus
on trade and
policy analysis
• Tracking pricing
data
• Regular
newsletter
• Horizon
newsletter

Agri-market
outlooks
EU exit will be the
backdrop to next
major sector
outlooks
Launched at end
of Jan

Forecasting and
modelling:
• New 3-year
partnership on
econometric
modelling with
Harper Adams
• Developing our
own model
farms

Future policy: 2 X
levy payer
webinars
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UK sheep - what
lies ahead?

The impacts of
trade deals with
NZ, Australia,
USA - by theme /
by sector

Responding to the climate
emergency with new trees
and woodlands
A guide to help local authorities and
landowning businesses achieve net zero
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Focus of woodland creation
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So why choose trees?

3

Using woodland creation to reach
net zero emissions by 2050

4

Using woodland creation in development
plans to contribute to net zero

7

Creating woodland through natural colonisation

7

Reduce the use of non-renewable resources
with wood and timber products

8

Managing woodland is good for carbon too!
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In summary…what can you do to help?

9

Sources of further information on grant funding

10

Woodland creation and plastic tree guards

11

Aiming to achieve net zero emissions

Focus of woodland creation
The UK’s climate is changing. Even with very ambitious actions to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions globally, some further climate change is inevitable up to at least 2050. The Committee
on Climate Change (CCC) has recommended that the UK Government adopt a net zero
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions target for 2050 and on the 27th June 2019, the UK Parliament
amended the Climate Change Act (2008)1 to include a commitment to net zero emissions
by 2050. The UK Parliament and a growing number of local councils and some businesses
have declared climate change emergencies and committed to achieving net zero targets over
varying timeframes.
Trees, woodlands and forests play a key role in greenhouse gas removal. The CCC has
recommended that we should be aiming to plant around 30,000 hectares of new woodland in the
UK every year until 2050. That is nearly a million hectares over the next 30 years. Doing so could
absorb approximately 10% of residual GHG emissions2 alongside the substantial reductions to
emissions across the whole economy required to meet net zero targets. In response to this the UK
Government has committed to supporting woodland creation and peatland restoration with the
£640m Nature for Climate Fund to plant more than 40 million trees and restore 35,000 hectares
of peatland in England3 by 2025. This commitment builds on the ambition and aspirations of the 25
Year Environment Plan4.

So why choose trees?
Well-designed new woodlands not only capture carbon dioxide (CO2) but deliver a wide range of
other benefits too.
Sustainably managed woodlands perform a vital role as carbon sinks and reservoirs5 by capturing
CO2 from the atmosphere and storing it as a component of wood itself. Over time, the soil
beneath them is enriched by adding carbon in the form of organic matter from leaf litter, branch
fall and root death. In general, woodland soils have low and infrequent levels of disturbance and
the total carbon content per unit area of woodland is higher than that for agricultural soils which
are subject to more frequent and significant disturbance. The rate of CO2 capture is closely related
to tree growth rate (or yield class – YC) and wood density, and it differs between species.
Beyond carbon, all trees and woodlands – wherever they are in the landscape, including our towns
and cities – can also provide a range of other benefits. They improve air quality, reduce the ‘urban
heat island’, provide timber, wood and wood fibre products, provide opportunities for people to
re-connect with nature and new spaces to improve health and well-being, help to reduce flood risk
and can reduce the costs of water treatment too6.

1
2

3
4
5
6

The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019 can be found at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
uksi/2019/1056/made
‘Net Zero – The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming’ Committee on Climate Change May 2019, the Further
Ambition options sees forestry providing a net sink of CO2 emissions of 22 MtCO2e per year by 2050 of the total UK
emissions (estimated at approximately 200MtCO2e by 2050)
The announcement of £640M Climate for Nature Fund was made in the Budget Statement of 11th March 2020.
Details of the 25 Year Environment plan can be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-yearenvironment-plan
Carbon sinks and sequestration https://www.unece.org/forests/outlook/carbonsinks.html
England’s Tree Health and Resilience Strategy May 2018 provides information on the importance of trees, woodland and
forest to our economy, provides good information on plant biosecurity and guidance on the sourcing of appropriate tree
stock. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/710719/
tree-health-resilience-strategy.pdf
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Using woodland creation to reach
net zero emissions by 2050
Placing woodland creation at the heart of any response to climate change will result in efficient
and effective carbon capture. Achieving afforestation at the scale recommended by the CCC
will require land use change up and down the country. Partnership-working and consultation
is key to making the challenging choices involved and avoiding any negative social, economic
or environmental impacts associated with woodland creation. Forestry regulations and the
requirements of the UK Forestry Standard underpin woodland creation projects ensuring high
quality design and sustainability.
So how can we calculate the area of new woodland we are going to aim to create? The answer
to that question will depend on the scale of current emissions and the actions already being
taken to reduce those emissions to a minimum or residual value. The UK Government provides
local authority and regional CO2 emissions national statistics7 and more information about the
greenhouse gas emissions in your local authority area is available from the National Atmospheric
Emissions Inventory8.
The following worked examples use the Woodland Carbon Code’s carbon calculator9 to provide
estimates of CO2 capture for four woodland types on the same area of land:

Type 1: 10 hectares (net area) of new broadleaved woodland growing at YC4 and under a
non-intervention regime with tree shelters and fencing to protect the trees when
young, will have captured approximately 2,700 tonnes of carbon dioxide (tCO2)
after 30 years, so 1 hectare will have captured 270 tCO2.
Type 2: 10 hectares of new productive broadleaved woodland growing at YC8 under
a thinning intervention with tree shelters and fencing will have captured
approximately 3,100 tCO2 after 30 years, so 1 hectare will have captured 310 tCO2.
Type 3: 10 hectares of a new UKFS compliant mixed conifer woodland growing at
YC20 and under a thinned continuous cover forestry regime, will have captured
approximately 3,220 tCO2 after 30 years, so 1 hectare will have captured 322 tCO2.
This woodland type yields some timber thinnings which will have a financial value
in addition to any carbon value or could be used as a source of renewable energy
(woodfuel), for fencing or as a raw material for panel board manufacture.
Type 4: 10 hectares of a new mixed woodland growing at YC20 and 12 for the conifers and
YC6 for the broadleaves, and under a thinned continuous cover forestry regime,
will have captured approximately 2,850 tCO2 after 30 years after it is planted, so
1 hectare will have captured 285 tCO2. This woodland type yields some timber
thinnings which will have a financial value in addition to any carbon value.

7

8
9

4

UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2017 can be found at https://www.
gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005to-2017
Go to https://naei.beis.gov.uk/laco2app/ for more data on GHG emissions in your local area
Find the Woodland Carbon Code calculator under Carbon Prediction Tools at https://www.woodlandcarboncode.org.uk/
standard-and-guidance/3-carbon-sequestration/3-3-project-carbon-sequestration
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Local councils and businesses wishing to become ‘Net Zero’ contributors to Climate Change
should first calculate their GHG emissions to account for their operations and provision of their
services. Then they should set out an abatement strategy to reduce their emissions at source to
a minimum. However, society cannot function without using some carbon and therefore emitting
some CO2. These emissions are known as unavoidable or residual CO2 emissions. The local council
or business abatement strategy will show what these residual emissions are estimated to be.
The final step in the process should be to calculate how to make good for these emissions. Here
we are therefore looking at how much woodland is required to offset the residual emissions over
the period of the ‘net-zero strategy’. This can be done by dividing the residual emissions by the
tonnes of CO2 captured by the type of woodland to be created.

Calculating how much woodland you need to plant?
Anytown District Council has stated it will make its operations and provision of services have net
zero emissions between now and 31st December 2050 and has committed to put into place all of
its emissions reduction strategies and actions to make this happen. It has calculated its residual
CO2 emissions are an average of 3,000 tCO2 per year for the next 30 years, declining from the
current rate of 5,000 tCO2/year to 1,000 tCO2/year in 2050. That’s approximately 90,000 tCO2
over the 30 year period.
In order to provide its services and carry out its operations with net zero CO2 emissions over the
period between now and 2050, the Council has decided to create more woodland because, as
well as capturing carbon, it realises that there are plenty of other benefits the town will enjoy from
being set in a wooded landscape. As the Council is yet to decide the type of woodland it wishes
to create is has a number of options. Using the woodland types and calculation mentioned earlier,
to achieve ‘net zero to 2050’, they could plant:

For Woodland Type 1 which captures 270 tCO2 per hectare over the 30 years, they will
need to create 333 ha of mixed broadleaved woodland manged for its biodiversity benefits.
For Woodland Type 2 which captures 310 tCO2 per hectare over the 30 years, they will
need to create 290 ha of mixed productive broadleaved woodland that is managed for its
timber products as well as the many other benefits woodland provides.
For Woodland Type 3 which captures 322 tCO2 per hectare over the 30 years, they will
need to create 280 ha of UKFS Compliant mixed coniferous woodland producing a timber
resource as well as the other multitude of benefits provided by coniferous woodland.
For Woodland Type 4 which captures 285 tCO2 hectare over the 30 years, they will need
to create 316 ha of mixed broadleaved and conifer woodland which will provide multiple
benefits for society including increased biodiversity, timber products and recreation.

Local authorities could also consider re-thinking their land portfolio. Selling valuable and
developable land may enable them to buy other land for woodland creation and allow them
to accommodate extra woodland creation. They could also work in partnership with other
landowners in the area to create woodlands on their land.
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The figures used in the fictional example are approximations. To be more accurate it would be
advisable to use the Woodland Carbon Code (WCC) carbon calculator. More accurate estimates
of future carbon capture will also require knowledge of the species you intend to plant and
their growth rate. The Ecological Site Classification (ESC) on-line tool10 will help you to decide
on appropriate species and their likely growth rate (yield class). ESC also allows you to consider
the impacts of climate change on the species you plan to plant, which is an essential part of
woodland design.
If your business or local council intends to report its efforts to offset its emissions, it is advisable
to register, validate and verify the woodland that has been created with the WCC. You will
need to have decided far more of the detail of the intended woodland creation to do this, so we
recommend that you speak to your local Forestry Commission Woodland Officer11.
Although seeking validation and verification of a planting project through the WCC involves some
time and expense, it is free to register woodland creation projects initially. At present, verified
Woodland Carbon Units are the only domestic carbon units that conform with Government’s
Environmental Reporting Guidelines12. The WCC is therefore the only available option that
will ensure that any woodland planted will count towards any future emissions reduction
targets or regulatory requirements. It will also allow verifiable statements about the carbon
capture that has been achieved through creating new woodland to be made.
For woodlands more than 10 ha in size, support for design is available through the Woodland
Creation Planning Grant. This will help to ensure that the right trees are being planted in the right
place. Anyone planning, designing and creating new woodland should seek professional advice
from a forestry agent, the Forestry Commission or a professional forestry organisation, to ensure
that they comply with the UK Forestry Standard.
10
11
12

6

Ecological Site Classification on-line tool https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/ecological-siteclassification-decision-support-system-esc-dss/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/forestry-commission/about/access-and-opening
Environmental Reporting Guidelines including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/850130/Env-reportingguidance_inc_SECR_31March.pdf
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Using woodland creation in development
plans to contribute to net zero
Sustainable economic growth and development are key to achieving a well-balanced future for
the UK; however, growth will result in GHG emissions. Choosing low carbon sources of building
material, insulation, heating and power will go a long way to minimising the amount of CO2 that
development produces. Encouraging the planting of trees and woodland as green infrastructure in
housing and infrastructure development proposals could have a crucial role to play in mitigating for
unavoidable CO2 emissions.
Applying a similar approach to new developments to that employed earlier, it is possible to
calculate the contribution new woodlands can make to mitigating unavoidable CO2 emissions.
Importantly, we should take into account not just the CO2 emissions resulting directly from
construction but also from the first decades of use.
So the calculation would be worked out by taking the residual emissions from the construction
and use of each housing or retail unit over the first 30 years and dividing that by number of tonnes
of CO2 captured by the woodland type you want to create.
Such woodland will have a wide variety of purposes and uses, possibly as a contribution to
achieving biodiversity or environmental net gain for development.

Creating woodland through natural colonisation
Given an adequate seed source, trees will probably establish naturally in the soils of most parts
of Britain. In some places it is appropriate to let nature take control, creating woodland by
allowing farmland, parkland or other open space to undergo natural colonisation or ‘re-wilding’ to
whatever ecological climax community develops. However, the presence of browsing mammals,
particularly deer, and invasive weeds generally makes this a very long process and even impossible
on some sites13. It follows that if woodland establishment is slower according to studies then
the CO2 captured on these sites will also be lower. In order to establish woodlands at the
scale required that are climate resilient and species diverse, we cannot rely on this mechanism
alone to do the job.
As well as achieving slower and lower carbon capture, with narrower species diversity, natural
colonisation is generally a less reliable way to achieve woodland creation than planting welldesigned UKFS compliant woodland. To create resilient long-term assets from our woodlands, we
need a wide range of species and resilient genetic make-up within those species. This helps create
woodland that is resilient to pests, diseases and climate change14.

13
14

See Section 6 page 92 of Forestry Commission Handbook 11 Creating and Managing Woodlands Around Towns which
covers the reasoning behind the statements in this paragraph.
See Protecting Plant Health A Plant Biosecurity Strategy for Great Britain for more information on biosecurity
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Reduce the use of non-renewable resources
with wood and timber products
In designing and establishing diverse woodlands, rich in wildlife, well-matched to the soil and
appropriate to the landscape, the role those woodlands can play beyond the 2050 Net Zero
target date should be considered. In 2018, 11.6 million green tonnes of softwood and hardwood
were delivered to wood processors for conversion to other wood products15. This resulted in the
production of 6.8 million cubic metres of sawn-wood and wood-based panels, a good proportion
of which is used in the construction industry. As carbon comprises about 50% of the dry weight
of wood and timber products, it is clear that encouraging the use of wood and timber in new
buildings will ensure that it is stored away for many years and also avoids the high energy
consumption and GHG emissions associated with alternative construction materials such as
concrete and steel.

Managing woodland is good for carbon too!
There is still uncertainty about how trees, woods and forests in England will respond to climate
change; however this should not be used as a reason for inactivity. While mature woodland
represents a large carbon store and bringing it into management (i.e. felling a proportion of the
trees) is likely to result in net carbon emissions over the short term, there are longer term benefits
through such action – beyond the financial benefits to the woodland owner, local employment
opportunities and community engagement. Management is required to bring light to the
woodland floor to allow high quality habitat to develop, while it also promotes natural regeneration
and evolutionary adaptation to the changing climate. In woodland of limited species diversity,
management also provides the opportunity to introduce species appropriate to the woodland that
will enhance its resilience to climate change and pest and disease outbreaks. So as well as a wide
range of species and resilient genetic make-up within those species in our planted woodland, we
need to create a tree stock in our managed woodland that is also resilient to the climate of the
future. Making choices about how we manage our woodland with a view to a climate that will be
very different to the one we currently have is essential for their future resilience16.
Local Authorities and landowning businesses are encouraged to consider the management of their
existing woodland holding as well as planting new woodlands.
However, relying on managing existing woodland to capture more CO2 will not be enough to
combat the effects of climate change; the extra capacity provided by new woodlands will bolster
what existing woodlands are already doing, wherever they are.

15
16

8

Source: www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/statistics/forestry-statistics/forestry-statistics-2019/ukgrown-timber/
Further information on Managing England’s Woodlands in a Climate Emergency is available at https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/managing-englands-woodlands-in-a-climate-emergency
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In summary…what can you do to help?
It is important to remember all these benefits your existing trees and woodlands are already
providing for your local area – well-designed woodlands and correctly situated urban trees will
deliver more than carbon reduction, they will contribute to a wide range of other local agendas
including improving air quality, reducing the risks of flooding and improving water quality, as well
as other public health, wellbeing and biodiversity benefits. If you want to consider creating more
woodland in response to climate change you might want to:
•

Consider measuring the multiple benefits existing woodlands and street trees already provide,
including the amount of carbon they already store and capture so their value is recognised.
You can find out more about how to do this by using i-Tree Eco17.

•

Encourage the appropriate protection of ancient woodlands and trees through the planning
system18, so there is no net loss of these woodlands and their carbon rich soils.

•

Encourage the sustainable management of existing trees and woodlands so that they are
more resilient to the long-term effects of climate change, continuing to act as a carbon sink
and store and, if possible, consider extending or joining these woodlands together to create
larger woodlands.

•

Encourage the use of timber in construction19 and sustainable heating 20projects to help avoid
emissions associated with alternative materials.

•

Support the retention of trees and the creation of new woodland in any new
development proposals21.

•

Encourage woodland creation and tree planting to be identified in local plans as an appropriate
response to climate change and sustainable development.

•

Promote the development of a tree and woodland strategy22, if one does not already exist to
place trees and woodland firmly within the council’s planning framework.

•

Encourage decision makers to re-think the land portfolio their council owns – by selling
valuable and developable land they may be able to buy cheaper farm or other land for
woodland creation and be able to accommodate extra woodland creation.

•

Help to evaluate the land owned by the local authority that may already be available for
tree and woodland planting including vacant land, farmland, public spaces, highways,
parks, gardens.

•

Persuade local authorities to seek professional advice from either a forestry agent, the
Forestry Commission or other professional organisations, to ensure that they comply with the
UK Forestry Standard and co-design any new amenity woodland with their communities.

•

Promote the benefits associated with offering public access and consider various options for
wider community engagement and management.

•

Remember that the Woodland Carbon Code provides reassurance that planting initiatives
will count towards any future emissions reduction targets or regulatory requirements and this
monitoring should be part of any emissions mitigation action plan.

17
18

I-Tree Eco can be found here https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/i-tree-eco/
How Ancient woodland is treated within the planning system can be found at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planningapplications-affecting-trees-and-woodland#ancient-woodland-and-the-planning-system
https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/sustainable-construction-timber/
https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/biomass-energy-resources/reference-biomass/documentsdownloads/biomass-and-sustainability/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-guidance-and-green-infrastructure
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/parks-green-spaces-and-biodiversity/trees-and-woodlands

19
20
21
22
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Sources of further information on grant funding
The government offers grants to make woodland creation a cost-effective part of the solution to
reaching net zero carbon emissions. Detailed information on these grants for woodland creation
can be found at: www.gov.uk/guidance/create-woodland-overview.
Woodland larger than 10 hectares can receive funding for its design through the Woodland
Creation Planning Grant (WCPG). This grant provides funding to prepare a Woodland Creation
Design Plan that complies with the UK Forestry Standard which can subsequently be used to
support further woodland creation grant applications.
The Woodland Carbon Fund (WCF) supports the planting of productive, multi-purpose
woodlands to store carbon that are larger than 10 hectares. The scheme offers capital funding for
the creation of new woodland, including the costs of tree planting and protection items including
tree guards, fencing and gates. Funding is also available to install forest roads and recreational
infrastructure.
Landowners may wish to earn further income by selling carbon credits – known as Woodland
Carbon Units (WCUs) – from their project. They will need to register their woodland with the
Woodland Carbon Code before they start planting, so that the potential opportunities for future
revenues from the developing UK carbon market are not missed.
The Woodland Carbon Guarantee (WCaG) is an incentive scheme which will provide long-term
(up to 35 years) payments for carbon sequestration to landowners in England who plant new
woodlands. The WCaG offers successful participants the option to sell woodland carbon units
to government, in the future, at a guaranteed price set by auction, which may be above current
market rates. The guarantee holder will also have the option to sell the WCUs on the open market.
Registration is open year-round and participation in the scheme will be through periodic auctions
which will be advertised online.

10

96

Aiming to achieve net zero emissions

The Urban Tree Challenge Fund (UTCF) is a two year challenge fund finishing in March 2021
to support the planting and establishment of large and small trees in urban and peri-urban
areas in England. The fund is competitive and targeted at projects that can provide the greatest
environmental, social and economic benefits in our towns and cities. The fund offers up to 50% of
published standard costs and applicants are required to provide at least 50% match funding from
other sources, which can be in the form of money or labour.
The Countryside Stewardship Woodland Creation Grant is a capital grant, through which
applicants can apply for one-off payments for the trees which will be planted and any associated
protection items and support towards infrastructure to help the establishment of new woodland.
Once the woodland is planted and the final capital claim is paid, eligible applicants can apply for a
separate multi-year grant to maintain the newly created woodland for 10 years.

Woodland creation and plastic tree guards
There is currently some debate over the use of plastic tubes for tree protection during woodland
establishment. The benefits of using guards to create better conditions for growth for most tree
species are clear. It is often also necessary to fence woodland planting sites and implement
comprehensive weed and browsing mammal management programmes to create thriving
woodlands. Evidence suggests that the current design specifications for tree guards remain the
most effective for achieving thriving woodland in the UK and consequently the most effective for
CO2 sequestration. While no alternative, proven, viable and long-term tree protection mechanisms
exist we recommend that, in most situations, plastic tubes will continue to be the best form of
protection for young trees. The Countryside Stewardship Scheme woodland creation maintenance
grants include funding for recovering used tree guards; all tubes should be recovered and recycled
after use. We recommend that anybody funding or facilitating woodland creation projects should
include a requirement for all tubes to be recovered as part of their contracts.
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There are a range of grant and incentive
schemes available for woodland creation,
maintenance, management and tree health.
Visit the Forestry Commission homepage at
gov.uk/government/organisations/forestrycommission to find out more.
Alternatively, you can speak to your local
Forestry Commission Woodland Officer.
Find us on social
@ForestryComm

/ForestryCommission
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North York Moors National Park Authority
Date 27 September 2021
Item 13, Reports from Members on outside bodies
1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To consider reports from Members attending meetings on outside bodies as
representatives on the Authority

2.

Background

2.1

It has been agreed that Members attending meetings of bodies where they are
representing the Authority should present a report, either verbal or written

3.

Campaign for National Parks and Welcome to Yorkshire

3.1

At appendix 1 please find an update from David Jeffels, CNP and W2Y
Representative.

4.

Disability Advisory Group

4.1

At appendix 2, please find minutes from the last DAG meeting held 21 July 2021.

5.

Financial and staffing implications

5.1

There are no financial or staffing implications.

6.

Legal and sustainability implications

6.1

There are no legal implications.

7.

Recommendation

7.1

That the report be noted by members

Contact Officer:
Judith Seaton
Executive Support Team Leader
01439 772505
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Appendix 1
Council for National Parks and Welcome to Yorkshire update by David Jeffels
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Appendix 2 - North York Moors Disability Advisory Group
62nd Meeting – Wednesday 21 July 2021 @ 2.00pm
Present: Sarah Oswald, David Brewster, Terry Sutcliffe, Danny Boyes (Chair), Ian
Lawson, Paul Hepworth, Colin Buck, Ian Nicholls, Donna Magson (notes)

1.

Welcome
Members introduced themselves to our new member Colin Buck.

2.

Apologies
Denise Ross, Ben Jackson, Ann Boyes

3.

Notes from the meeting held on 30 April 2021
Agreed

4.

Matters Arising
•

Ian wrote to Paul Fellows requesting that improving access and installing
changing places be mentioned in the Management Plan. Sarah mentioned
that this had also been discussed at NPA Committee so members are
aware. Donna/Ian will ensure that any drafts of the Management Plan are
circulated to the group.

•

David Brewster updated members on the Walled Garden and the need for
changing places – the buildings are the biggest challenge and funding
would be required. Members asked where Ryedale District Council stood
and they need to step up and provide these facilities.

Action – It has been proved that being in the outdoors improves mental health
and these facilities should be available. Ian Nicholls to make contact with RDC
and to pass the details onto Ian Lawson so he can also contact them.
•

Virtual Walks – David Brewster again praised the work put into the virtual
walks and how such a simple idea has had a tremendous response.
Hopefully more equipment can be purchased to widen the availability of
the walks. More volunteers are needed, could the Rye Team / Ecologist be
encouraged to take park in these?
Again, this is an example of the National Park doing really good work but
not generating the good publicity the work initiative deserves.
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5.

Cod Beck Car Park – western gate accessibility
The National Park are working closely with the National Trust (landowners) to
get the work completed.
A few members met up with Ben Jackson at Cod Beck last Wednesday (14 July)
and explained some of the issues. Photos were shown at the meeting.
• The car park is in bad repair and usually the disabled space is underwater after
rainfall. The ramp leading from the space is just a pile of gravel which, for now,
works but in time will wear away.
• The surface gulley is fine, provided it is well maintained.
• The wheelchair accessible gate doesn’t work and you need something to prop
it open before you can get through with a wheelchair.
• The path is too narrow in places and there are occasional rocks sticking out of
the ground which proves difficult to manoeuvre around.
The NP has S106 money available to do the work, all is needed is for the National
Trust to claim this money to go ahead with the work needed to improve the
access.
Action – Ben Jackson to pursue with NT and report back at the next meeting.

6.

Euan’s Guide to Disability Access
The guide was attached with the agenda. People with disabilities need good
information on accessibility before they can even think of visiting anywhere. Ian
Lawson is in contact with our Communications Team discussing the website and
how it can be improved and to make the North York Moors area more accessible
by 2025. Visit England / Britain are looking for businesses to work with them and
are seeking bids from organisations to be involved.
Action – Sarah Oswald / Ian Nicholls to speak to Catriona McLees about Euan’s
Guide being a future topic at the next forum meeting.

7.

Improvement to Opening of External Doors at Sutton Bank
We have received a quotation to get a motor and a push button fitted to the
main doors at Sutton Bank. Hopeful that the work will be completed over winter,
subject to finding funding.
Also mentioned was the step coming out of the tea rooms into the courtyard.
Everything else is accessible apart from this area. It is thought that this doorway
is just being used while C19 restrictions were in place and for people to be met at
the door to collect food.
Action – Ian Nicholls to look at the step and report back
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8.

Changing Place at the Moors National Park Centre, Danby
Plans at the Moors Centre toilets include installing changing places facilities.
This will require an extension to the existing toilet block, an architect has drawn
up the plans – just now need to find the money. Plans for extending and
refurbishing the Sutton Bank toilet block are £350 - £360,000 which, is a lot of
money to find and can funding be sought?
To be able to get external funding, you need a costed plan in place already so you
can move fast and get in quickly.
Members agreed that the toilet facilities do need updating.
Ideal locations for changing places away from NPA sites would be Dalby and
Helmsley and this was a good reason for involving partners and including
improvements in facilities in the Management Plan.

9.

Update on Rights of Way / Access
Action - Ben Jackson will report back at the next meeting on Miles without
Stiles.
Little Blakey car park access has been improved. Prior to the meeting, a number
of group members had visited Sutton Bank and the newly installed path leading
from the car dark to the dark skies observation point was described as excellent
and the standard to aspire to.
Sarah said that NPA Members had a site visit to Cawthorn Camps – the ramp
and the viewing platform are in major need of repair. However, there has been a
new bench installed elsewhere on the site but it should have a solid area around
the bench so that wheelchair users can also get to it and admire the view with
their families.
David Brewster said he was going to take a group to Port Mulgrave – we have
since confirmed with him that the new access to the beach is now out of bounds
as it was damaged in the latest storms – this will be rebuilt but not sure on
timings.

10.

Any other business
The new crossing to the White Horse will be started in September (moved about
150 yards further towards Helmsley away from the bank).
Can we please invite a member of the Ryevitalise Team to the next meeting?
Action – Donna Magson

11.

Time, date and location of next meeting
Helmsley - Friday 8 October @ 2.00pm
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